FHD-243 late 18th C.

Frederick Barracks

242 South Market Street
Frederick

Public

Following the general concept of military barracks in North
America constructed during the eighteenth and nineteenth century,
the Frederick Barracks is a handsome two story, L-shaped stone
Structure. Listed on the National Register of Historic Places in
1970, the barracks has adapted itself to a variety of public uses:
a state armory, an agricultural exhibition hall, a temporary hos-
pital during the Civil War, and finally the first classrooms for
the Maryland School for the Deaf. Presently, the building serves
as the school's museum.
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o ESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND DRIGINAL (If known) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The two-story stone structure with gallery porches is
"L" shaped. An "A" roof covers the structure including the
porches. : ' .

This structure remains of two original "L"-shaped
buildings which, between the two, enclosed a yard. The
reputedly older building was demolished c. 1870 to supply
materials to erect the Maryland School for the Deaf brick
building whlch overshadows the remaining "barracks."

The longer (north) exterior wall of the ex1st1ng
building and the short (east) exterior wall (the short, base,
of the "L") are pierced by occasional small, double-hung
sash windows. The interior walls, along the galleries,
are regularly pierced on both floors by sturdy doors with
six deeply beveled panels, and with double-hung windows that
show some early glass panes. Pegged frames with heavy cyma
reversa mold surround each window opening; most of the wood
trim throughout the structure appears to be early.

The doorways on each floor open into a series of
plain, rectangular rooms. At neither.level is there an
interior passageway. The inter-foom door of each room
leads directly into the next in line. The interior common-
wall between each two rooms are fitted with fireplaces,
back-to-back; the stack of each couple rises to just above
the ridge pole appearing as a series of wide, squat chimneys.

There are two interior plain, narrow, wooden staircases
between the two story levels. Two exterior, plain, wooden
staircases rise from the lower to the upper galleries.

This stone structure closely resembles the extensively
restored, circa eighteenth-century, military barracks at
Trenton, New Jersey, and follows the general concept of

military barracks in North America constructed durlng the
nineteenth century.

The Hessian Barracks are located at 242 South Market
Street (éast side of the street) in Frederick, Maryland, on
the grounds of the Maryland School for the Deaf.
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TATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

[Ed.: Footnote references are under #9)

Two historians of Frederick, Maryland, Lucy Leigh Bowie
(in 1939) and J. Thomas Scharf (in 1882) maintained that
the Hessian Barracks were built during-the French and Indian
War (1754-1763).1

The first principal (William D. Cooke) of the Maryland
School for the Deaf located on the barracks grounds, in his
history of the institution, was unable to date the barracks
exactly. He did state: "It is known, however, that they
[the barracks] were built during the reign of George II
[of Great Britain], and that they were occupied by General

[Edward) Braddock and his troops on their route to Fort
Dusquene."2 .

Judge T. J. C. Williams, the co-author of the accepted
history of PFrederick County, stated that the barracks were
built following a law passed in 1777. Williams*also mentions
a letter dated July of 1775 from John Hanson to Peyton
Randolph (The latter Williams names as the President of the
Continental Congress.), which referred to the barracks.S3
Unfortunately, Williams gave no source for his statement.

An examination of the published volumes of the Archives
of Maryland reveals that the State contracted to build "a"
barracks in Frederick in the summer of 1777. This structure
was not completed in 1781.4
a prisoner of war, to Governor Thomas Sim Lee, dated

January 30, 1781, reveals the condition of the barracks,
then to be used as a prison.

. I have the honor to inform Your Excellency,
that on the arrival of the British Troops of
Convention here, I made a demand of boards and
nails to make the barracks habitable for the men
and to give them reasonable space equal to their
numbers. [sic.] which is so far from the case
at present, that one half cannot measure their

SEE CONTINUATION SHEET

A letter from a British officer, .
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#8. SIGNIFICANCE continued
lengths on the few floors they have.
To alleviate which, had boards, nails and
tools been provided, they would have willingly
with my authorizing them completed the barracks.>

It may be deduced from the aférementioned quotes that
the barracks described above were what is known today as the
"Hessian Barracks." However, no land record has been un-
covered to substantiate this deduction.

The Laws of Maryland, February Session 1777, Chapter X,
authorized the Governor of the State to purchase property for
the erection of barracks. 1In August, two months after the
State Council had engaged Abraham-Faw to build a barracks,
Thomas Johnson, the Governor of Maryland, did purchase five-
and-one-fourth acres of land in Frederick County to be held
in the name of the incumbent Governor of Maryland in
perpetuity.® However, this five-and-one-fourth acre tract is
not’' the piece of land on which the Hessian Barracks sits today.
An early documentation of a barracks on the same grounds of
the existing. barracks is found in a deed dated April 14, 1820.7

o

French prisoners of war captured during the undeclared
sea war with France (1799) and Britisg soldiers taken prisoner
in the War of 1812 occupied barracks.

In thé nineteenth century the Barracks at this location
served several diverse state and community needs. The State
of Maryland used the barracks as a state armory under the
charge of a state armorer. While the armory was still assigned
this building, and.with permission from the State, vacant floor
space was rented for other purposes. One of the tenants was
the firm of Jenks and Ramsburg, which raised silk worms (c.1839-
1840)9; from 1853 to 1860 ‘the barracks yard served as the

L
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#8. SIGNIFICANCE continued

“Agricultural Fairgrounds.

_ After the Battle of Antietam (September 17-18, 1862) the
Barracks building functioned as a hospital for the wounded
from both North and South. Every available space in Frederick
from hotels to high schools including the Barracks was taken
.up for the estimated 4,000 wounded hospitalized there.l0

The State chose the Barracks grounds for the location of
a new school, the Maryland Institution for the Deaf and Dumb
(1867). Before the construction of the first building in 1871,
the school met. in the barracks. The Industrial Department of
the Maryland Institution for the Deaf and Dumb continued to use
the barracks for a few years after the construction of the 1871
school building. The school's Board of Directors authorized
demolition of the western of the two original ‘barracks buildings.

#9. REFERENCES continued
FOOTNOTES : -

lLucy Leigh Bowie, "The Ancient Barracks at Fredericktown,"
(Frederick: Maryland School for the Deaf, 1939), 6; J. Thomas
Scharf, History of Western Maryland . . ., 2 vols., '
-Philadelphia: Louis H. Everts, 1882), I, 500.
i

2[william D. Cooke], "Principal's Report to the President
and Board of Directors of the Maryland Institution for the
Deaf and Dumb," "Report of the Maryland Institution for the
for the Deaf and Dumb," 1869, 11, Maryland Public Documents,
microfilm, Hall of Records, Annapolis.

o 3, J. C. Williams and Folger McKinsey, History of
Frederick County, 2 vols., reprint, (Baltimore: Regional .
Publishing, 1967), I, 90, 91. -

'4Archives-of Maryland, XVI, Journal and Correspondence of
the Council of Maryland, 1777, 300; Archives of Maryland,
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Hessian Barracks
#7 - Description
continued - page 2

The west facade of the north-south "L" is a shorter version
of its companion wing. Window and door trim is identical to
that on the east-west "L".

The south facade of the north-south "L" is marked by three
starbolts but otherwise is a solid masonry wall. At the first-
story level the stone wall has been extensively reworked. School
personnel indicate that part of this wing was converted into a
garage and then subsequently remodeled. Beaded rakeboards outline
the gable area.

The east facade of the north-south "L" is punctuated by evenly-
spaced windows displaying 6/6 sash, pegged surrounds, projecting
wooden sills and flat-arched, keystoned stone lintels. Most

of the windows and window frames are replacement. A stone
watertable which follows the rising northward slope of the land
further distinguishes this facade.

This watertable continues to run along the north (rear) facade
of the east-west "L". This north facade is eight bays wide.
On the first story, three raised entrances mark the first,
third, and fifth bays from the northeast corner respectively.
Windows occupy the remaining bays. Windows also define the
corresponding openings of the second story. An additional
window is centered between the two easternmost bays at this
level. Both window and door frames are replacement but repli-
cate the trim found trhoughout the structure.

The west facade of the east-west "L" is a solid masonry wall.
Beaded rakeboards articulate the gable area.

Large interior brick chimneys rise through the roof ridge
between the sixth and seventh bays, the tenth and eleventh
bays, at the easternmost bay of the east-west "L", and centrally

- in the shorter north-south "L". All chimney stakcs have been

extensively rebuilt.
INTERIOR

Very little of the original fabric remains on the interior due
to the variety of uses the building has adapted itself to since
its construction. The Hessian Barracks were extensively
renovated in 1971.
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Hessian Barracks
#7 - Description
continued - page 3

The majority of the rooms presently serve as exhibit space for
the Maryland School for the Deaf, depicting their history as
well as the historical events associated with the barracks.

The second floor of the north-south "L" is a private apartment.

Both "L" shaped interiors are divided into a series of plain,
rectangular rooms. At neither level is there an interior hall-
way. A narrow, straight stair is found along the inside of

the western gable wall of the east-west "L". A second and
much larger dog-leg stairs is located toward the eastern portion
of this wing. In the center section a wooden ladder leads to
the second floor through a square opening in that floor. The
interior common walls between each room are beaded vertical
panels and are fitted with fireplaces back-to-back. These
fireplaces have been extensively rebuilt. The partition walls
in most cases are not original. While some of the interior
window and door trim is of an early date, most of the detailing
is of recent construction. This is also true for the doors

and door hardware. In many rooms the plaster has been stripped
from the walls, exposing the unfinished masonry suraface.

In two of the rooms on the first floor the ceiling joists are
visible, showing early hand-hewn beams. On the second story,
one of the rooms in the east-west wing exhibits wide, pine
floorboards secured with old nails. The plaster ceiling in
this room has been removed, also revealing hand-hewn joists.
Some of the upright posts in the roof truss system however
are hand-hewn.

This stone structure closely resembles the extensively restored,
circa eighteenth century, military barracks at Trenton, New
Jersey and follows the general concept of military barracks in
North America constructed during the nineteenth century.
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Hessian Barracks
#8 - Significance
continued - page 2

case at present, that one half cannot measure their
lengths on the few floors they have.

To alleviate which, had boards, nails and tools been
provided, they would have wi%lingly with my authorizing
them completed the barracks.

It may be deduced from the aforementioned quotes that the
barracks described above were what is known today as the
"Hessian Barracks." However, no land record has been uncovered
to substantiate this deduction.

The Laws of Maryland, February Session 1777, Chapter X, authorized
the Governor of the State to purchase property for the erection
of barracks. In August, two months after the State Council had
engaged Abraham Faw to build a barracks Thomas Johnson, the
Governor of Maryland, did purchase five-and-one-fourth acres

of land in Frederick County to be held in the name of the in-
cumbent Governor of Maryland in perpetuity.6 However, this
five-and-one-fourth acre tract is not the piece of land on
which the Hessian Barracks sits today. An early documentation
of a barracks on the same grounds of the existing barracks is
found in a deed dated April 14, 1820.7

French prisoners of war captured during the undeclared sea war
with France (1799) and British soldiers taken prisoner in the
War of 1812 occupied barracks.8

In the nineteenth century the Barracks at this location served
several diverse state and community needs. The State of Maryland
used the barracks as a state armory under the charge of a state
armorer. While the armory was still assigned this building, and
with permission from the State, vacant floor space was rented

for other purposes. One of the tenants was the firms of Jenks
and Ramsburg, which raised silk worms (c.1839-1840);9 from 1853
to 1860 the barracks vard served as the Agricultural Fairgrounds.

After the Battle of Antietam (September 17-18, 1862) the Barracks
building functioned as a hospital for the wounded from both
North and South. Every available space in Frederick from hotels
to high schools including the Barracks was taken up for the
estimated 4,000 wounded hospitalized there.

The State chose the Barracks grounds for the location of a new
school, the Maryland Institution for the Deaf and Dumb (1867).
Before the construction of the first building in 1871, the
school met in the barracks. The Industrial Department of the
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Maryland Institution for the Deaf and Dumb continued to use the
barracks for a few years after the construction of the 1871 school
building. The school's Board of Directors authorized demolition
of the western of the two original barracks buildings.

FOOTNOTES:

1.

Lucy Leigh Bowie, "The Ancient Barracks at Fredericktown,"
(Frederick: Maryland School for the Deaf, 1939), 6:J. Thomas
Scharf, History of Western Maryland...., 2 vols., (Phila-
delphia: Louis H. Everts, 1882), I. 500.

(William D. Cooke), "Principal's Report to the President
and Board of Directors of the Maryland Institution for the
Deaf and Dumb," "Report of the Maryland Institution for
the Deaf and Dumb," 1869, 11, Maryland and Public Documents,
microfilm, Hall of Records, Annapolis.

T.J.C. Williams and Folger McKinsey, History of Frederick
County, 2 vols., reprint, (Baltimore: Regional Publishing,
1967), 1, 90, 91l.

Archives of Maryland, XVI, Journal and Correspondence of the
Council of Maryland, 1777, 300: Archives of Maryland, XLIII,
Journal and Council of Maryland, 1781, 32, 305; Calendar

of State Papers, No. 5, Executive Miscellanea, (Annapolis:
Hall of Records, 1958), 110.

James Hamilton, Brigadier General, to Governor Thomas Sim
Lee at Annapolis, Fredericks Town, January 30, 1781, Archives
of Maryland, XLVII, Letters to the Governor and Council,
1781, 41-42.

Thomas Beatty to Governor Thomas Johnson, Aug. 22, 1777,
Frederick County Land Records, Liber RP, folio 195, Hall of
Records, Annapolis.

John Cromwell to Peter Storm, April 18, 1820, Frederick
County Land Records Liber JS#10 folio 564, Hall of Records,
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Bowie, "The Ancient Barracks at Fredericktown," 29, 30:
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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The Hessian Barracks located on the campus of the Maryland School
for the Deaf in Frederick County (242 South Market Street) is a
long L-shaped, two-story stone structure. Its slate gable roof
projects along the south wall of the fourteen-bay story gallery
porch. A wide flagstone path marks this area at the first-story
level. There is no access to the balcony from the ground. although
earlier photographs show a stairway in the westernmost bay of the
east-west wing. The present porch is of recent construction but

in all likelihood some type of gallery has always existed.

This structure was-one of two original ."L"-shaped buildings which,
between the two, enclosed a yard. The reportedly older building
was demolished circa 1870 to supply materials to erect the Maryland
School for the Deaf's brick building which overshadowed the re-
maining barracks. This brick structure, an elaborate five-part
Victorian building, was torn down in the 1960s to be replaced by
the Ely Building/Auditorium.

The first and second stories of the east-west "L" are identical
and characterized from west to east by a window, door, door,
window, window, door, door, window, window, door, door, window,
window, door configuration. The windows are universally 6/6

sash with a beaded and pegged surround outlined by a heavy cyma
reversa molding. Further defining these openings are projecting
wooden sills and flat-arched stone lintels. Shutter dogs randomly
appear on the window trim and suggest that casement-type shutters
originally covered the openings. The entrances are framed by a
beaded and- peyged surround, also outlined by a cyma reversa molding.
A flat-arched, keystoned stone lintel surmounts the doorways. The
poured-concrete door sills replace stone ones. The doors are
fashioned of beaded, wide vertical panels. Some of the wood trim
window panes and doors appear early. Where they are not, their
replacement is a replicated version of the older detail.

A plaque, dated September 14, 1914 and placed by the members of
the National Star Spangled Banner Centennial Pilgrimage is centered
between the two westernmost first-story doors. It reads:

"These barracks mark the course of the struggle for American
independence built in 1777 by the British & Hessian prisoners
of the Revoluntionary War. Here were detained these taken
at battles of Saratoga, Trenton, and Yorktown also the
French prisoners captured from the frigate "L'Insurgent"
by the Navy in 1799. Also the British prisoners taken in the
war of 1812 at Bladensburg and during the attack upon
Baltimore at North Point and Fort McHenry September 12-14,
1814, the gallent defense of which inspired Francis Scott
Key to write the American National Anthem "The Star
Spangled Banner."

CONTINUE ON SEPARATE SHEET IF NECESSARY
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The following statement.of significance is taken from the historical
information collected for the:National Register Nomination Form
prepared in 1970. The Hessian Barracks were placed on the National
Register of Historic Places on January 25, 1971.

"Two historians of Frederick, Maryland, Lucy Leigh Bowie

(in 1939) and J. Thomas Scharf (in 1882) maintained that the
Hessian Barracks_were built during the French and Indian
War (1754-1763).

The first principal (William D. Cooke) of the Maryland School
for the Deaf located on the barracks grounds, in his history
of the institution, was unable to date the barracks exactly.
He did state: 'It is known, however, that they (the barracks)
were built during the reign of George II (of Great Britain),
and that they were occupied by General (Edward) BraddOCK and
his troops on their route to Fort Dusquene.’ -

Judge T. J. C. Williams, the co-author of the accepted his--
tory of Frederick County, stated that the barracks were built
following a law passed in 1777. Williams also mentions a-
letter dated July of 1775 from John Hanson to Peyton
Randolph (Williams names the latter as the President of the -
Continental Congress), which referred to the barracks.
Unfortunately, Williams gave no source for his statement.

An examination of the published volumes of the Archives of
Maryland reveals that the State contracted to build "a"
barracks in Frederick in the summer of 1777. This structure
was not completed in 1781.4 A letter from a British officer,
a prisoner of war, to Governor Thomas Sim Lee, dated

January 30, 1781, reveals the condition of the barracks,

then to be used as a prison.

I have the honor to inform Your Excellency, that on

the arrival of the British troops of Convention here,

I made a demand of boards and nails to make the barracks
habitable for the men and to give them reasonable space
equal to their numbers, (sic.) which is so far from the

CONTINUE ON SEPARATE SHEET IF NECESSARY
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EJGEOGRAPHICAL DATA

ACREAGE OF NOMINATED PROPERTY 4 acres

VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION

Corner Latitude ks Longitude

Degrees Minutes Seconds Degrees Minutes Seconds
NW : '390 24" 34" 772 24" 38.5"
NE 39° 24" 34 77 24" 33.5"
SE 398 24" 30" 772 24" 33.5"
SW 39 24" 30" 77 24! 38.5"
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and record purposes only and do not- constitute any infringe-
ment of individual property rights.
RETURN TO: Maryland Historical Trust
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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

This is a detached 2-1/2 story '"L" shaped structure having thick walls of native
blue fieldstone and being approximately two bays wide and fourteen bays in depth with
the base of the "L'" extending about five bays. A plain balcony of the period projects
along the inner facades. The foundation rises to a height of three feet forming a
watertable. The many doors are of board and batten construction with pegged beam
framing. The building is lighted by many picturesque small 6/6 windows also framed
by pegged beams, flat stone arches, and with thick wooden sills. Rear windows are
protected by board and batten shutters. A fieldstone pavement leads to the entrances.

The building is capped by steep sloped "A" frame slate roofs overhanging the
balconies. Four large square chimneys rise from the ridges.

This structure sets amid lawns, brick paths, flower beds, evergreens and trees.

CONTINUE ON SEPARATE SHEET IF NECESSARY
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

A bronze placque on the wall states the case:

1776 - 1814

"These barracks mark the course of
the struggle for American Independence'

"Built in 1777 by the British and Hessian prisoners of the Rev-
olutionary war. Here were detained those taken at the battles
of Saratoga, Trenton and Yorktown. Also the French prisomners
captured from the frigate "L" Insurgent' by the United States
frigate "Constellation," the first capture of the navy in 1799.
Also, the British prisoners taken in the War of 1812 at Bladens-
burg and during the attack upon Baltimore at North Point and
Fort McHenry; Sept 12-14 1814. The gallant defense of which
inspired Francis Scott Key to write the national anthem "The
Star Spangled Banner."

CONTINUE ON SEPARATE SHEET IF NECESSARY
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FREDERICK/HESSIAN BARRACKS

242 south Market Street
Frederick, Maryland
SW Elevation

from The MARyland Bulletin
Vol.C, No.3 February-March 1980
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FREERICK/HESSIAN BARRACKS
242 South Market Street
Frederick, Maryland

SW Elevation
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